February 28, 2008
EA-08-026

Brent Batman, President
Ball Memorial Hospital
2401 W. University Avenue
Muncie, IN 47303

SUBJECT: NRC OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS (Ol) REPORT NO. 3-2007-018 —
BALL MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

Dear Mr. Batman:

This refers to your May 2, 2007, notification to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC)
that two nuclear medical technologists employed at Ball Memorial Hospital administered doses
of iodine-131 to patients without having signed written directives authorizing them to administer
those doses. The NRC Office of Investigations (OI) conducted an investigation of the matter. A
summary of the Ol report is enclosed.

As a result of this Ol investigation, one apparent violation of 10 CFR 35.40 was identified and is
being considered for escalated enforcement action. This regulation requires, in part, that a
written directive must be dated and signed by an authorized user prior to administration of
iodine-131 in quantities of greater than 30 microcuries. However, Ol determined that on

April 30, 2007, two nuclear medicine technologists administered iodine-131 to two patients
without a signed written directive. Furthermore, Ol determined that one of the nuclear medicine
technologists apparently administered the dose in deliberate violation of NRC requirements.
The current Enforcement Policy is included on the NRC’s Web site at
www.nrc.gov/about-nrc/regulatory/enforcement/enforce-pol.html.

Before the NRC makes its enforcement decision, we are providing you an opportunity to:
(1) respond to the apparent violation within 30 days of the date of this letter, (2) request a
predecisional enforcement conference (PEC), or (3) request Alternative Dispute Resolution
(ADR) to resolve this issue.

If you choose to provide a written response, it should be clearly marked as a "Response to
Office of Investigations Report 3-2007-018; EA-08-026" and should include: (1) the reason for
the apparent violation, or if contested, the basis for disputing the apparent violation; (2) the
corrective steps that have been taken and the results achieved; (3) the corrective steps that will
be taken to avoid further violations; and (4) the date when full compliance was or will be
achieved. In presenting your corrective action, you should be aware that the promptness and
comprehensiveness of your actions will be considered in assessing any civil penalty for the
apparent violations. The guidance in the enclosed excerpt from NRC Information Notice 96-28,
"SUGGESTED GUIDANCE RELATING TO DEVELOPMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION OF
CORRECTIVE ACTION," may be helpful. Your response may reference or include previous
docketed correspondence, if the correspondence adequately addresses the required response.
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If an adequate response is not received within the time specified or an extension of time has not
been granted by the NRC, the NRC will proceed with its enforcement decision or schedule a
predecisional enforcement conference. Your written response should be addressed to the U.S.
Nuclear Regulatory Commission, ATTN: Document Control Desk, Washington, DC 20555. At
the same time, a copy should be sent to the Regional Administrator and the Enforcement Officer
at NRC Region lll, 2443 Warrenville Road, Suite 210, Lisle, IL 60532-4351

If you request to attend a PEC, it would be closed to public observation and transcribed. The
decision to hold a PEC does not mean that the NRC has determined that a violation has
occurred or that enforcement action will be taken. This conference would be held to obtain
information to assist the NRC in making an enforcement decision. This may include information
to determine whether a violation occurred, information to determine the significance of a
violation, information related to the identification of a violation, and information related to any
corrective actions taken or planned. The conference would provide you an opportunity to
present your perspective on these matters and any other information that you believe the NRC
should take into consideration in making an enforcement decision. As described above, the
promptness and comprehensiveness of your actions will be considered in assessing any civil
penalty of the apparent violations.

Instead of a predecisional enforcement conference, you may request alternative dispute
resolution (ADR) with the NRC in an attempt to resolve this issue. ADR is a general term
encompassing various techniques for resolving conflict outside of court using a neutral third
party. The technique that the NRC has decided to employ is mediation. Additional information
concerning the NRC's program is described in the brochure (NUREG/BR-0317) and can be
obtained at http://www.nrc.gov/about-nrc/requlatory/enforcement/adr.html. The Institute on
Conflict Resolution (ICR) at Cornell University has agreed to facilitate the NRC’s program as an
intake neutral. Please contact ICR at 877-733-9415 within 10 days of the date of this letter if you
are interested in pursing resolution of this issue through ADR.

Please contact Mr. John Madera at (630) 829-9834 within 10 days of the date of this letter to
notify the NRC of your decision to respond in writing or to participate in a PEC or in ADR.

In accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the NRC's "Rules of Practice," a copy of this letter, its
enclosures, and your response, if you choose to provide one, will be made available
electronically for public inspection in the NRC Public Document Room or from the NRC’s
document system (ADAMS), accessible from the NRC Web site at
www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html. To the extent possible, your response should not include
any personal privacy, proprietary, or safeguards information so that it can be made available to
the Public without redaction.
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We appreciate your cooperation and will gladly discuss any questions you have concerning this
investigation.

Sincerely,

/RA/

Steven A. Reynolds, Director
Division of Nuclear Materials Safety

License No.: 13-00951-03
Docket No.: 030-01586

Enclosures:
1. Summary of Office of Investigations Report 3-2007-018
2. Excerpt from NRC Information Notice 96-28

cc w/encls: Alvis Foster, Ph.D, Radiation Safety Officer
State of Indiana

DISTRIBUTION:
See next page
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SUMMARY OF OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS REPORT 3-2007-018

The Office of Investigations report involves a nuclear medicine technologist who administered a
dose of iodine 131 (I-131) without having a signed written directive, contrary to the requirements
of 10 CFR 35.40(a).

On May 2, 2007, the licensee found two administration records for I-131 diagnostic scans which
appeared to have been administered but did not include the signature of the authorized user.
Upon discovery, the licensee questioned the two nuclear medicine technologists (NMTs)
involved, one of whom admitted to knowingly violating NRC requirements by not having the
written directive signed prior to administering the dose. The licensee suspended both NMTs for
three days and informed the NRC of the apparently willful issue.

On May 3, 2007, the NRC held an emergency allegation review board and requested that the
Office of Investigations initiate an investigation to determine if the one NMT willfully administered
I-131 to a patient without first obtaining a signed written directive from an authorized user, as
required by 10 CFR 35.40(a).

The Office of Investigations interviewed the Radiation Safety Officer and the NMT. The RSO
outlined the facts above. The NMT admitted several times during the interview of being aware
(1) that the written directive was not signed and was required to be signed; and (2) that
administering the dose without a signed written directive was a violation of NRC requirements.
Nevertheless, on April 30, 2007, the NMT administered a dose of 2.24 millicuries of I-131 to a
patient without having a signed written directive.

Based upon the evidence developed during the investigation, the Office of Investigations

determined that the NMT deliberately failed to obtain the signature of an authorized user on a
written directive before administering 1-131.

Enclosure 1
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